IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DANNY ALLEN WESTBROOK

APPELLANT

V.

NO.2008-KA-00436-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Danny Allen Westbrook
- 4 Cono Caranna, and the Harrison County District Attorney's Office
- 5. Honorable Stephen B. Simpson

THIS 5th day of December, 2008.

Respectfully submitted,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS 2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 4
ARGUMENT 6
ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE
MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION INSTEAD
ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S SELF-DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONS
ISSUE NO. 5: IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, DEPRIVING APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL

74	•	•	•	•	•	•	 •	٠	•	 •	•	 •	•		•		• •	•	 •	•		٠	 		 •		CE) [/	75	EŁ	S.	OŁ) E	LE	Υ.	ΟI	HIJ	КЛ	Æ)
[þ	•		•		•	•		•	•	 •	•			٠.	•	•	٠.		 •	•	٠.	•	 	 •	 •	 •	٠.		•		٠.	• •	N	1 C	SI	Ω	CF	N	00)

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:

Agnew v. State, 783 So.2d 699 (Miss. 2001)
Anderson v. State, 199 Miss. 885, 25 So.2d 474 (1946)
Anderson v. State, 571 So.2d 961 (Miss.1990)
Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625 (1980)
Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188 (Miss. 1989)
Buchanan v. State, 567 So.2d 194 (Miss.1990)
Bush v. State, 895 So. 2d 836 (Miss. 2005)
Carr v. State, 208 So. 2d 886 (Miss. 1968)
Clark v. State, 928 So.2d 192 (Miss. App. 2006)
Clemons v. State, 473 So. 2d 943 (Miss. 1985)
Colenburg v. State, 735 So. 2d 1099 (Miss. App. 1999)
Conner v. State, 177 So. 46 (1937)
Conner v. State, 632 So.2d 1239 (Miss. 1993)
Cox v. State, 793 So.2d 591 (Miss.2001)
Dedeaux v. State, 630 So. 2d 30 (Miss. 1993)
Faraga v. State, 514 So.2d 295 (Miss. 1987)
Fryou v. State, 987 So.2d 461 (Miss. App. 2006)
Giles v. State, 650 So.2d 846 (Miss. 1995)
Goff v. State, 778 So.2d 779 (Miss. App. 2000)

Green v. State, 884 So.2d 733 (Miss. 2004)
Grubb v. State, 584 So.2d 786 (Miss.1991)
Guice v. State, 952 So.2d 187 (Miss. App. 2006)
Harper v. State, 478 So.2d 1017 (Miss. 1985)
Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948 (Miss. 1997)
Hester v. State, 602 So.2d 869 (Miss.1992)
Hiter v. State, 660 So. 2d 961 (Miss. 1995)
Jackson v. State, 645 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994)
Jackson v. State, 740 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1999)
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)
Kinkead v. State, 190 So.2d 838 (Miss.1966)
Lanier v. State, 684 So.2d 93 (Miss. 1996)
Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964 (Miss. 1985)
Love v. State, 441 So.2d 1353 (Miss.1983)
Madison v. State, 923 So. 2d 252 (Miss. App. 2006)
McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130 (Miss. 1987)
McGee v. State, 953 So.2d 211 (Miss. 2007)
McGregory v. State, 979 So.2d 12 (Miss. App. 2008)
McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685 (Miss. 1990)
Mease v. State, 539 So.2d 1324 (Miss.1989)

Miller v. State, 733 So.2d 846 (Miss. App. 1998)
Mullins v. State, 493 So.2d 971 (Miss. 1986)
O'Bryant v. State, 530 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1988)
Osborne v. State, 843 So.2d 99 (Miss. App. 2003)
Parks v. State, 884 So.2d 738 (Miss. 2004)
Poole v. State, 826 So.2d 1222 (Miss.2002)
Porter v. State, 749 So.2d 250 (Miss.App.1999)
Read v. State, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1983)
Robinson v. State, 773 So.2d 943 (Miss. App. 2000)
Roach v. State, 938 So.2d 863 (Miss. App. 2006)
Roberts v. State, 458 So.2d 719 (Miss. 1984)
Russell v. State, 729 So.2d 781 (Miss.1997)
Russell v. State, 789 So. 2d 779 (Miss. 2001)
Scott v. State, 446 So. 2d 580 (Miss. 1984)
Smith v. State, 802 So.2d 82 (Miss.2001)
Smith v. State, 907 So.2d 292 (Miss. 2005)
Splain v. Hines, 609 So.2d 1234 (Miss.1992)
Staten v. State, 989 So.2d 938 (Miss. App. 2008)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
Tait v. State, 669 So. 2d 85 (Miss. 1996)
Walton v. State, No. 2006-KA-01065-COA (Miss. App. November 13, 2007)

Walton v. State, No. 2006-CT-1065-SCT (Miss. November 13, 2008)
Wells v. State, 305 So.2d 333 (Miss. 1974)
Williams v. State, 122 Miss. 151, 84 So. 8 (1920)
Williams v. State, 729 So. 2d 1181 (Miss. 1998)
Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181 (Miss.2001)
Windham v. State, 520 So. 2d 123 (Miss. 1987)
Windham v. State, 602 So.2d 798 (Miss.1992)
Woods v. State, 806 So.2d 1165 (Miss. App. 2002)
CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITIES
United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment
United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment
United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause 24
Mississippi Constitution, Article 3 Section 14
Mississippi Constitution, Article 3 Section 26
RULES
MRE 404(a)(2)
STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-15 (Rev. 2006)
Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-27 (Rev. 1994)
Miss. Code Ann §97-3-29 (1972)

Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-31(1972)
Miss. Code. Ann. §97-3-33 (1972)
Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-35 (1972)
Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-47 (1972)
Miss. Code Ann. §97-17-97 (Rev. 1997)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Black's Law Dictionary, 650 (5 th Edition 1979)
Wayne R. LaFave et al., Criminal Law § 76, p. 574 (1972)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT THE REQUESTED DEFENSE INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER, ALLOWING THE DEFENSE ONLY A CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION INSTEAD.

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER AND DEPRAVED HEART MURDER WERE CONFUSING TO THE JURY AND INSUFFICIENTLY STATED THE LAW.

ISSUE NO. 4: WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S SELF-DEFENSE INSTRUCTIONS.

ISSUE NO. 5: IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, DEPRIVING APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of murder against the appellant, Danny Allen Westbrook. Tr. 140, C.P. 60, R.E. 16. Westbrook was subsequently sentenced to life in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Tr. 143, C.P. 61-62, R.E. 17-18. This sentence followed a jury trial on August 7-8, 2007, Honorable Stephen B. Simpson, Circuit Judge, presiding. Westbrook is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to the testimony presented at trial, on August 22, 2006, members of the Gulfport Police Department responded to an assault call at Buddy's Inn. Tr. 77. Upon arriving, Officer Matthew Newport observed a white male lying face down on the ground. Officer Newport called an ambulance, secured the scene, and began searching for witnesses. Tr. 78. The injured man, George Sharpe, was transported to the hospital where he died two days later. Tr. 64, 91.

At trial, three individuals testified as witnesses to the events that transpired on the night in question, Daniel Wilson, Sabrina Dellamonica, and Nicole Ross. According to Daniel Wilson, he met Nicole Ross and her friend Sabrina Dellamonica at Buddy's Inn on August 22, 2006. Tr. 11-12. After he arrived, Wilson noticed the appellant, Danny Westbrook, come through the front door, go behind the bar, and then hurry outside. Tr. 13-14. Wilson followed Westbrook outside, but was about thirty seconds behind him. Tr. 14, 24. When Wilson made it outside, he saw Westbrook, the bouncer at the lounge, hit a man with a baseball bat several times. Tr. 14-15. Wilson did not see any weapons on the other man, but did not witness the beginning of the altercation. Tr. 18, 24. Wilson also testified that Westbrook was holding the bat in a defensive position when Wilson first walked outside. Tr. 27.

Sabrina Dellamonica and her friend Nicole Ross went to Buddy's Inn after they got off work on August 22, 2006. Tr. 29. Sabina drank about three or four beers. Later that evening, Sabrina observed an altercation between George Sharpe and a woman at the bar.

Apparently, the two were arguing over money. According to Sabrina, Westbrook told Sharpe to leave and the two had a verbal confrontation that did not contain any threats. Tr. 30-31.

At some point after Sharpe left the bar, Sabrina watched Westbrook grab a bat from the bar and walk outside. She could not, however, remember if Westbrook said anything before walking outside. Sabrina and Nicole sat for a few minutes then decided to look outside and see what was happening. Tr. 32. Sabrina testified that she saw Westbrook pull Sharpe from his truck and beat him with a baseball bat. Tr. 33-34. She never saw Sharpe with a weapon. Tr. 34. Afterwards, she returned to the bar and finished her drink. Tr. 35. When the police arrived she told everyone she was leaving to get a taxi, but instead got into a police car in order to give a statement. Tr. 36-37.

Nicole Ross was at Buddy's Inn with her friend Sabrina waiting to meet up with Daniel Wilson. Tr. 42-43. While Nicole was waiting for Daniel, she watched an altercation between George Sharpe and a women over twenty dollars. Westbrook told Sharpe to leave. Tr. 44. According to Nicole, later on two gentlemen came into the bar and told Westbrook that Sharpe was back. Nicole heard Westbrook tell the bartender, "I'm going to jail tonight." Tr. 47.

Nicole, Sabrina, and Daniel followed Westbrook outside, and Nicole saw Westbrook strike Sharpe three times. Tr. 49-50. Before Westbrook struck Sharpe, Nicole heard Sharpe state, "You do not want none of this, son," and saw him walking towards Westbrook. Tr. 50. Sharpe was being, "loud and aggressive." Tr. 59. Then Nicole, Sabrina, and Daniel went back inside the bar and screamed for someone to get help. Tr. 52.

Dr. Paul McGrarry, an expert in forensic pathology, completed an autopsy on Sharpe.

Tr. 64. He concluded that internal bleeding and massive brain swelling from the blunt head injuries was the cause of Sharpe's death. Tr. 72.

The police arrived on the scene and immediately began investigating. It was not until thirty to forty-five minutes later that they suspected Westbrook of being involved. Tr. 83. Westbrook gave a statement on the scene in which he denied touching Sharpe. Tr. 79. Ultimately the police placed Westbrook into custody and transported him to the police station. Tr. 81. At the station, Detective Mark Clarite noticed dried blood on Westbrook's hands. Detective Clarite ordered his officers to take a swap of the blood on his hands. Tr. 93. Eventually, Detective Clarite searched Sharpe's car and did not find any weapons. Tr. 94.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This was a tragic case where the appellant, Danny Allen Westbrook, a bouncer in a local bar, was attempting to do his job, only to take the life of another human being. The facts in this case clearly do not support a murder verdict. The jury was never informed it could acquit Westbrook if they found his actions were justifiable under the law, as he had a right to defend his place of employment under Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-15 (Rev. 2006).

The jury was never told they shall presume Westbrook had a reasonable fear of death or serious bodily injury or of a felony being committed against him or his business. Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-15(3) (Rev. 2006).

In the alternative, this case is extremely similar to a typical "juke joint brawl." The trial judge erred in not instructing the jury on the proper types of manslaughter as originally requested by Westbrook. The defense had to rely only on culpable negligence manslaughter when the State was granted a depraved heart murder instruction. As the trial judge commented, those two offenses (depraved heart murder and culpable negligence manslaughter) are one in the same. The instructions granted gave no meaningful distinction between the two crimes. Taking the evidence in the most favorable light for Westbrook, he was entitled to at least an absence of malice manslaughter instruction as he requested.

The culpable manslaughter instructive that was granted, along with a depraved heart murder instruction was also inherently confusing to the jury. The jury was never instructed that depraved heart murder requires a higher degree of recklessness from which malice or deliberate design might be implied.

Based on the evidence presented, the jury's verdict of guilty of murder, as opposed to manslaughter, was not supported by the evidence. Although Westbrook should be entitled to have his conviction reversed and rendered, at the very least, his case should be reversed for a new trial with the jury properly instructed.

The trial judge also erred in not allowing the jury to consider that Westbrook may have acted in self-defense. Although not overwhelming, there was evidence presented to support the instruction. Although Westbrook asserts the trial judge should have recognized he had a right to present a defense on justifiable homicide, at the least, he should have been entitled to present a self-defense instruction to the jury.

Finally, in the alternative, Westbrook was clearly deprived of effective assistance of counsel. Counsel conceded guilt to manslaughter without presenting any affirmative defenses clearly apparent in the evidence. Counsel did not even request the proper manslaughter instructions and did not put forth any serious objection when the court denied his self-defense instructions that were supported by the evidence. Westbrook should be granted a new trial with competent counsel.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT THE VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

A. Sufficiency of the Evidence.

Trial counsel requested a directed verdict at the close of the State's case, arguing the prosecution failed to show any intent. The trial judge denied the motion, finding it was a jury question whether or not the State proved deliberate design. Tr. 99-100. The trial court also denied a defense peremptory instruction, D-1, and found this was sufficient to renew the motion for directed verdict after the close of all the evidence. Tr. 107. This issue was also raised in trial counsel's Motion for Judgment *Non Obstante Verdicto* Or For New Trial in the Alternative. C.P. 63-64, R.E. 19. The trial judge denied this motion. C.P. 89, R.E. 26. Westbrook asserts this was error.

At this time point in trial, the prosecution had yet to request a depraved heart instruction.

The standard of review regarding the sufficiency of the evidence is well-established. Review of a motion for a directed verdict tests the sufficiency of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (¶15) (Miss. 2005). The court must determine whether the evidence shows "beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused committed the act charged and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this test it is insufficient to support a conviction." *Id.* at ¶16 (quoting *Carr v. State*, 208 So. 2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968)). Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, the question is not whether the court believes the evidence established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt but whether a rational trier of fact could have found all the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. *Bush*, 895 So. 2d at 844 (¶16) (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 315 (1979)).

This case should have never gone to the jury, as Westbrook was clearly not guilty of murder. The evidence supports that Westbrook's actions constituted justifiable homicide under Miss. Code. Ann §97-3-15(1)(e) and (3) (Rev. 2006), yet the trial judge did not *sua sponte* instruct the jury on justifiable homicide. Westbrook would concede that the trial court has no affirmative duty to instruct the jury *sua sponte* or suggest instructions to the parties. *Giles v. State*, 650 So.2d 846, 853-54 (Miss. 1995), citing *Conner v. State*, 632 So.2d 1239, 1254 (Miss. 1993). However, when an affirmative defense is so readily apparent from this evidence, appellant would assert that the failure to do so was an abuse of discretion. *McGregory v. State*, 979 So.2d 12 (¶12) (Miss. App. 2008)(trial court has the discretion to instruct *sua sponte*).

In Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-15, the Mississippi Legislature adopted what is commonly known as the Castle Doctrine. This law expanded the common law right to defend one's home, to include, among other places, one's business, and one's place of employment, along with the immediate premises surrounding them. The facts as related from the State's own witnesses, established Westbrook was employed by Buddy's Inn and had a right to be on the premises. As a part of his employment duties, he ejected a rowdy bar patron. Sharpe no longer had a right to be on the premises. When he returned to the bar's parking lot, under the law, Westbrook was given the presumption that he reasonably feared death or great bodily harm, or the commission of a felony against him. Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-15(3). The jury was never informed of this and could very well have found that the killing was therefore with authority of law. The trial judge should have recognized Westbrook was entitled to a directed verdict. This was plain error.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held the plain error exists when there is a violation of a substantive right of a defendant.

A review under the plain error doctrine is necessary when a party's fundamental rights are affected, and the error results in a manifest miscarriage of justice. *Williams v. State*, 794 So.2d 181, 187-88 (Miss.2001). To determine if plain error has occurred, we must determine "if the trial court has deviated from a legal rule, whether that error is plain, clear or obvious, and whether the error has prejudiced the outcome of the trial." *Cox v. State*, 793 So.2d 591, 597 (Miss.2001) (relying on *Grubb v. State*, 584 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss.1991); *Porter v. State*, 749 So.2d 250, 260-61 (Miss.Ct.App,1999)).

McGee v. State, 953 So.2d 211 (¶8) (Miss. 2007).

Westbrook asserts the trial court had a duty to inform the jury of this law even if Westbrook's counsel was unaware of its existence or believed it did not apply. Accordingly, Westbrook is entitled to have his conviction reversed and rendered. If this Court concludes that trial counsel somehow waived Westbrook's right to assert an affirmative defense of justifiable homicide, such conduct would clearly be ineffective assistance of counsel as set forth in Issue 5, *infra*.

Finally, even if the trial judge did not believe the Castle Doctrine applied, the case should never have been given to the jury with the option of murder. *Wells v. State*, 305 So.2d 333, 336-337 (Miss. 1974)(when the facts support a killing under Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-31, it is the duty of the trial judge to limit the charge under the facts shown in the case to manslaughter). The court should have instructed the jury to find Westbrook guilty of manslaughter or to acquit.

B. Weight of the Evidence.

If this Court finds the evidence supporting the charge of murder was sufficient to submit to the jury, in the alternative, Westbrook would assert that the verdict of guilty of murder was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. "In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an

unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Id. See also Benson v. State*, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss. 1989); *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss. 1987).

"Ordinarily, whether such a slaying is indeed murder or manslaughter is a question for the jury." *Windham v. State*, 520 So. 2d 123, 127 (Miss.1987). However, the Supreme Court has reversed jury verdicts of murder on more than one occasion, remanding for sentencing only for manslaughter, including *Williams v. State*, 729 So. 2d 1181, 1186 (Miss. 1998)(heat of passion manslaughter instruction was required as record contained sufficient evidence from which "the jury could infer that Williams acted on impulse or in the heat of the moment").

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