### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DANNY ALLEN WESTBROOK

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0436

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

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

depraved heart.

The Appellant would have this Court believe that the victim entered the fray because of the victim's statement to the Appellant. Yet, there was no "fray" at that time. The Appellant simply attacked, without need or cause. While it is true that the victim approached the Appellant after seeing that the Appellant had armed himself for a fray, evidently with the purpose of defending himself, the victim never assaulted or attempted to assault the Appellant. The Appellant attacked and kept attacking. To the extent this could be called a fray, and it cannot, it was one begun and ended by the Appellant.

The cases cited by the Appellant involve either highly confused accounts of a homicide or an instance of tomfoolery that ended in tragedy. In the case at bar, the Appellant seized hold of a bat, mercilessly beat an unarmed man to death, and then tried to cover up his involvement in the matter, going so far at to lie to the police about it. If indeed this was a case of repelling an attack or an unlawful act, one would surely think that the Appellant would have said that, rather than lying about it all. The verdict in the case at bar does not constitute an unconscionable injustice. The trial court therefore did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a new trial.

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

# 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT GIVING AN INSTRUCTION BASED UPON MISS. CODE ANN. SECTION 97-3-31

The Appellant filed a proposed instruction, D-19 (R. Vol. 1, pg. 48), in which three forms of manslaughter were set out. One of those forms found its authority under Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-31 (Rev. 2006). The other two were heat of passion manslaughter and culpable negligence manslaughter. While an instruction on culpable negligence manslaughter was ultimately given, this instruction, D-19, was not given by the trial court, and the Appellant

here asserts error.

During the conference on jury instructions, the trial court asked the prosecutor about his position on the giving of a manslaughter instruction as a lesser - included offense. The prosecutor initially stated that, in his opinion, there was no evidence in support of a manslaughter instruction. The trial court then indicated that it believed that the facts of the case tended to support culpable negligence manslaughter more than heat of passion manslaughter, but then stated that "that issue is not before me." The colloquy then drifted into a discussion about "depraved heart culpable negligence," at which point the trial court observed that, if the prosecution objected to a manslaughter instruction and if it did not grant a manslaughter instruction, that would leave the Appellant without a defense.

At this point the Appellant's attorney chimed in. He stated that he could provide a decision which discussed manslaughter in the absence of heat of passion. The trial court returned to its discussion culpable negligence manslaughter and depraved heart murder. At that point the prosecutor indicated that he would request a depraved heart murder instruction if the court were of a mind to give a manslaughter instruction. The discussion then turned to whether the indictment would have to be amended to permit a charge of depraved heart murder.

After further discussion, the trial court asked the attorney for the Appellant whether he wanted a manslaughter instruction, to which the attorney responded affirmatively. The trial court then asked the attorney which form of manslaughter he desired. The attorney stated that he wished to have a culpable negligence instruction. At that, the trial court instructed the prosecutor to prepare an instruction that included deliberate design murder, depraved heart murder, and culpable negligence manslaughter. It instructed the defense to prepare certain instructions, to "do a culpable negligence." (R. Vol. 2, pp. 111 - 118). A culpable negligence manslaughter

instruction was given, D-50-A (R. Vol. 1, pg. 30).

As we have said, the Appellant now claims that the trial court erred in failing to give D-19, asserting that there was evidence to support the versions of manslaughter set out in that instruction. It is said that the trial court "compelled" the defense to accept culpable negligence manslaughter. (Brief for the Appellant at 21).

The trial court did not "compel" the defense to accept culpable negligence manslaughter. The record is quite clear that the court asked the defense which form of manslaughter it desired, just as the record is very clear that the defense elected culpable negligence manslaughter. The defense did not, at that point, assert that it should be granted instructions under other forms of manslaughter; it clearly made the decision, all by itself, to select culpable negligence manslaughter as the defense theory. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 115).

It is true that the trial court expressed the view that the facts of the case suggested, to it, culpable negligence manslaughter more than heat - of - passion manslaughter. But it never actually denied the heat - of - passion manslaughter instruction on the ground that there was no evidence in support of it. And the same is true for the form of manslaughter set out in Section 97-3-31: the court did not address it, and the defense, when given the opportunity to state which form or forms of manslaughter it wished to have, clearly elected culpable negligence manslaughter, to the exclusion of the other forms set out in D-19.

Had the defense wanted the other forms of manslaughter as well as culpable negligence, it should have made that point at the time the court asked what form or forms it wanted, if not earlier in the course of the discussion. The defense should have pressed for a definitive ruling with respect to those other forms. By not doing so and by affirmatively stating which form it wanted, it effectively withdrew D-19 to the extent of the those other forms. Where a party

withdraws its request for an instruction, it may not base a claim of error on the fact it was not given. Guilbeau v. State, 502 So.2d 639 (Miss. 1987). Furthermore, because the defense did not press for definitive ruling concerning the other forms, it may not complain here about the lack of those instructions. Baker v. State, 930 So.2d 399 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

In view of this, it is unnecessary to consider whether there was sufficient evidence in the case to allow for an instruction under Section 97-3-31. The defense clearly and expressly made the decision to go forward with culpable negligence and eschewed the other forms of manslaughter set out in D-19.

The Appellant asserts that there was sufficient evidence to allow for an instruction under Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-3-33 (Rev. 2006). It does not appear that any instruction filed by the defense involved this form of manslaughter. No complaint about the matter may be made now. Besides this, it appears to us that that form of manslaughter would have been embraced by Section 97-3-31.

As for heat - heat - of - passion, had the defense pressed for that instruction, and had the trial court refused the instruction, there would have been no error in such a ruling. There was no evidence that the Appellant was in the state of mind required for the grant of such an instruction. *Givens v. State*, 967 So.2d 1, 11 (Miss. 2007). The Appellant had the presence of mind to know that he was going to go to jail, and after he finished beating the victim he returned to his drink, telling bar patrons that they had not seen anything.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is true that D-19 is marked as "refused". However, it is clear, from the statements of the trial court and the defense attorney that it was so marked because the defense elected culpable negligence and was requested to draft and did draft another culpable negligence instruction. D-19 was shown as "refused" for this reason, not because the trial court stated that it would not give an instruction on the other forms of manslaughter.

Finally, we note that instruction D-19 was an abstract instruction. It would have been properly denied for that reason.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

## 3. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING INSTRUCTIONS ON CULPABLE NEGLIGENCE MANSLAUGHTER AND DEPRAVED HEART MURDER

In the Third Assignment of Error, the Appellant contends that the instructions granted on murder, depraved heart murder and culpable negligence manslaughter did not properly and completely state the law. Specifically, the Appellant complains that none of the instructions given explained the difference between the three theories of liability. Consequently, says the Appellant, he was denied due process of law. However, the Appellant does not appear to get round to explaining, exactly, what the trial court should have instructed the jury about beyond those instructions it did grant. It appears, though one cannot be certain, that the Appellant thinks the trial court should have granted an instruction contrasting depraved heart murder with culpable negligence manslaughter.

First of all, we note that the defense did not request an instruction that would have attempted to distinguish these felonies. Since it did not request such an instruction, the Appellant may not complain of the matter here. *Anderson v. State*, 904 So.2d 973, 977 (Miss. 2004). Nor did he request an instruction defining culpable negligence or object to the lack of such an instruction. He may not complain of the lack of such instruction now. *McDowell v. State*, 984 So.2d 1003, 1013 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). It is true that the Appellant submitted instruction D-50, in which he added language concerning recklessness to the statutory language, in an attempt to explain culpable negligence, but this was not an attempt to distinguish depraved heart murder from culpable negligence. The Appellant was apparently merely trying to explain the concept of

culpable negligence only. In any event, the phrase "reckless, negligent conduct" was not of itself of much use to distinguish this form of manslaughter from depraved heart murder, and, in fact, was not sufficient to do so. *Roberson v. State*, 2007-KA-01412-COA (Miss. Ct. App., Decided 24 February 2009, Not Yet Officially Reported)(Example of what the Court described as a proper definition of culpable negligence). Nonetheless, Instruction D-51 properly defined culpable negligence.<sup>2</sup>

The Appellant claims that this Court has recently described the difference between culpable negligence manslaughter and depraved heart murder in *Staten v. State*, 989 So.2d 938 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). It is true that the Court described the difference between these felonies, relying upon *Windham v. State*, 602 So.2d 798 (Miss. 1992). However, nowhere in the opinion of this Court was it held that a trial court must give an instruction to distinguish these three felonies.

The trial court asked the attorneys to provide a definition of culpable negligence, and this was incorporated into D-51 ( R. Vol. 2, pp. 122 - 123; Vol. 1, pg. 54).

The instructions that were given on the felonies of murder and depraved heart murder, S-4 (R. Vol. 1, pp. 23 - 24), when read together and along with D-51 (R. Vol. 1, pg. 54) and S-2 (R. Vol. 1, pg. 22) were sufficient to guide the jury. Deliberate design was explained in S-2. In S-4, with respect to depraved heart murder, the language "while engaged in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, disregarding the value of human life" was sufficient to explain to the jury what that form of murder was. Instruction D-50-A informed the jury that the killing of a human being by the act, procurement or culpable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> D-51 is not marked as given or refused. However, it was given. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 123).

negligence of another was manslaughter. D-51 defined culpable negligence and included the "reckless disregard" language. The text of these instructions were sufficient to apprise the jury of the distinctions among the felonies. The sentence "negligence of a degree so gross as to be tantamount to a wanton disregard of or utter indifference to the safety of human life" in D-51 clearly distinguished itself from the depraved heart murder instruction. They are not in conflict with each other.

The Appellant complains that the trial court did not permit the defense to amend D-50.

D-50-A was a much more thorough instruction on culpable negligence. It matters not at all that D-50 was not amended in view of D-50-A.

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

## 4. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT AN INSTRUCTION OF DEFENSE OF SELF

As pointed out by the Appellant in his brief, the defense in effect withdrew its proposed instructions on self defense by stating that it could not in good faith proceed on a theory of self defense. (Brief for the Appellant at 26). The Appellant may not now assert error on account of the fact that the trial court did not grant an instruction on self defense. *Guilbeau v. State*, 502 So.2d 639 (Miss. 1987).

There was no evidence to support in instruction on self defense. According to the testimony, when the Appellant heard that the victim was outside of the bar, he armed himself with a bat, said that he was going to jail that night, and went outside to confront the victim. It is true that the victim walked toward the Appellant, but it is also true that the testimony was that he unarmed. The victim did tell the Appellant that, "You do not want none of this, son," but this statement, given its context, cannot be seen as some indication that the victim intended to attack

the Appellant. When the victim made this statement, the Appellant was already in an aggressive stance. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 48 - 52). While the Appellant here might characterize it as a defensive posture, that characterization is unreasonable given the fact that the Appellant armed himself, stated that he was going to jail, and then went out to the parking lot. Quite clearly, the Appellant was the aggressor. On the other hand, there is not the first word of testimony to show or indicate that the victim was attacking or was about to attack the Appellant. The Appellant did not tell police officers that he acted in self - defense; he lied to them and said he knew nothing about the matter until someone told him that the victim was outside, bleeding.

It is true, of course, that an accused has the right to have his jury instructed as to his theory or theories of the case, even where the evidence in support of it or them is meager. Here, though, the evidence in support of self defense was not meager; it was non - existent. The Appellant armed himself in advance, the victim was not armed and did nothing more than to walk toward the Appellant and tell him that he did not want to get into a confrontation. This was no self - defense case. *Chandler v. State*, 946 So.2d 355 (Miss. 2006).

The Fourth Assignment of Error is without merit.

5. THAT THE RECORD IN THE CASE AT BAR IS INSUFFICIENT TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL; THAT ALLEGED INSTANCES OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DO NOT DEMONSTRATE A DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE OF COUNSEL OR PREJUDICE TO THE APPELLANT

The Appellant *pro se* filed a "Motion for a New Trial or Motion for Reconsideration," in which he alleged that his trial attorney was ineffective in a number of ways. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 67 - 69). The Appellant's attorney filed a "Motion for Judgement *Non Obstante Verdicto* or for New Trial in the Alternative" (R. Vol. 1, pp. 63 - 64), relief upon which was denied by the trial court. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 89). It does not appear that the trial court ruled upon the *pro se* motion. Because

the Appellant did not press for a ruling on his motion, that motion was abandoned. *Smith v. State*, 986 So.2d 290 (Miss. 2008). Nonetheless, appellate counsel has adopted the Appellant's complaints about his trial attorney here, and asserted them as instances of ineffective assistance of counsel.

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